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ESB: CHAIRPERSON DESIgNATE

  The joint committee met in private session until 10.15 a.m.

ESB: Chairperson Designate

Chairman: The purpose of this part of this meeting is to engage with the chairperson desig-
nate of the ESB, Ms Ellvena graham, to discuss the approach she proposes to take if and when 
appointed to the role of chairman and her views on the challenges currently facing that body.  
By now, we are all very well aware of the government decision in May 2011 that put new ar-
rangements in place for the appointment of persons to State boards and bodies.  Reference to 
this arrangement is made in the guidelines of the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform 
on appointments to State boards of November 2014.  The committee welcomes the opportunity 
to meet the chairperson designate in public session to hear her views.  We trust that this provides 
greater transparency in the process of appointment to our State boards and bodies.  On behalf 
of the committee, I welcome Ms graham.

By virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by ab-
solute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  If witnesses are directed by the 
Chairman to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and continue to do so, they are entitled 
thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  Witnesses are directed that 
only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and they 
are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not 
criticise or make charges against any person, persons, or entity by name or in such a way as to 
make him, her or it identifiable.  Any submission or opening statements witnesses have made to 
the committee will be published on the committee website after the meeting.

I remind members of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they should 
not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person or persons outside the Houses or an 
official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I invite Ms graham to make her opening statement.

Ms Ellvena Graham: I am delighted to have the opportunity to meet the Chairman and 
other members of the committee today.  Perhaps it would help the committee if I introduced 
myself briefly.  I was born and grew up in County Down in Northern Ireland.  I joined Ulster 
Bank in 1982, working in Belfast and, for many years, here in Dublin.  My most recent role was 
as head of Ulster Bank in Northern Ireland and managing director of SME banking across the 
island of Ireland.  Prior to that, I was chief operating officer for Ulster Bank Group, again on 
an all-island basis.  In those roles, I came to know the bank’s customers and stakeholders.  This 
included engagement with many public representatives here in Leinster House and in Stormont 
on issues affecting their constituents.  Prior to that, I was in charge of RBS operations for Eu-
rope, the Middle East and Africa.  This involved responsibility for more than 3,000 staff and 
servicing retail and commercial banking customers from a range of locations abroad.  My other 
current activities include chairmanship of the Economic Advisory group in Northern Ireland.   
I am also a board member of the Northern Ireland Chamber of Commerce and Industry and a 
member of the advisory board of the Women’s Executive Network in Ireland.  These roles pro-
vide a really helpful perspective on wider policy and community issues both in Northern Ireland 
and in the Republic.

I do not want to burden the committee with too much biographical detail but it may be help-
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ful if I say that my career to date as an executive and non-executive has taught me the value of 
sound business judgment, leadership, customer focus, pragmatism, ability to influence people 
and tenacity.  As someone who has lived and worked in Dublin and Belfast, I know at first hand 
the importance of business relationships between the North and South.  These business links 
have played a key role in the progress we have made in recent years.  I am very proud of the 
contribution women make to business and I am delighted to be the first woman nominated to 
chair the ESB.

As chairman designate, I am very conscious of the great history of the ESB.  It was estab-
lished as a commercial State company at the very beginning of the State to be a key enabler of 
the economic development of the country.  Electricity remains vital for economic development 
and the ESB continues to play a crucial role in the national economy.  I am mindful of being 
responsible not only to the government, as owner, but also to those industries, businesses, 
hospitals, schools, homes and all those who rely on the ESB for a safe and secure supply of 
electricity.  My appointment is an honour and it is also a challenge that I very much welcome. 

As a serving board member, I have come to see the scale and complexity of the ESB’s busi-
ness.  The ESB is a major employer, with 7,200 staff, €13 billion in assets and €3 billion in an-
nual revenues, and it contributes more than €2 billion annually to the Irish economy.  The ESB 
has a presence in every county and townland in the country.  The ESB Networks business serves 
more than 2 million customers.  There has been major investment in the networks to deliver the 
infrastructure critical to a modern economy.  As the members all appreciate, there is great com-
mitment from staff to maintaining a safe and secure energy supply in all weathers.

The ESB’s generation and supply businesses have undergone major transformations over 
the past decade, from being monopolies to operating in an open and competitive marketplace.  
We can all see that ESB International brings Irish engineering expertise to serve the needs of 
clients right across the globe.  The ESB is a large-scale business, investing up to €1 billion 
each year.  Some €500 million to €600 million of this is spent upgrading Ireland’s electricity 
network.  The ESB invests hundreds of millions of euro each year in its generation, supply and 
innovation businesses.  To finance these investments, the ESB has to be a financially strong 
and profitable business.  It has to raise debt in the international financial markets.  Current debt 
stands at €5 billion.  I am aware of the scale of this investment challenge and of the role of the 
board in maintaining a financially strong ESB for the benefit of all of us.

On looking forward, the first thing I would say about my vision for the future is that it is 
a very exciting time for the energy industry.  We are all working to address the challenges of 
climate change and to decarbonise our economies.  This is giving rise to a huge focus on renew-
ables, the development of clean energy technologies and the efficient use of energy.  EU and 
national policies are driving these efforts and the ESB will continue to play a leading national 
role.  These developments are changing not only the way we generate electricity but also the 
way we supply it to customers.  Smart technologies are already improving the efficiency and 
operation of the electricity networks.  All of this progress will place the customers much more 
in control of when and how they use electricity.  It will also enhance the whole customer experi-
ence and engagement in our own homes.

It is a really interesting time to be on the ESB board.  As chairman designate I look forward 
to the challenge of developing and supporting the ESB’s innovation strategy.  The key strategic 
challenges I see for the ESB are supporting public policy in delivering an affordable, secure and 
sustainable electricity service; meeting the challenges of the all-island and all-islands electric-
ity market, particularly the competition we now face in our traditional home market, including 
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from the big UK utilities; delivering a high-quality, cost-efficient electricity network; disruption 
in our industry from emerging technologies; maintaining the financial strength of ESB; and at-
tracting and retaining the high-calibre people critical for the success of the company into the 
future.

It is clear to me that the ESB board is committed to the highest standards of corporate gov-
ernance.  This reflects both the heritage of the organisation and also the commitment of board 
colleagues.  As a board, we are never complacent, and that will continue to be my focus as 
chairman.  I place particular emphasis as chairman on the board’s oversight responsibility for 
strategy and governance, oversight of internal controls and oversight of risk.  In doing this, I see 
the board as supporting and challenging management, who have the operational responsibility 
for the business.  I appreciate the trust that is being placed in me and I am determined to live 
up to that trust.

As chairman designate of the board of the ESB, I look forward to playing my part in ensur-
ing that the ESB remains a vital facilitator of the economic and social development of Ireland. 

I acknowledge the proud history of the ESB since it was established by the members’ pre-
decessors in 1927.  I recognise the very distinguished chairmen of the past, including most 
recently Lochlann Quinn.  My focus as chairman would be to ensure that Ireland and all of our 
customers continue to have a safe, secure, sustainable and affordable electricity service.  That 
is the brief for the role and that is what I would be honoured to do.  I will take any questions.

Chairman: I thank Ms graham for outlining her very clear vision in respect of her respon-
sibilities and also for outlining the challenges and opportunities coming down the line.  Her 
enthusiasm for her new job is obvious from her presentation.  I hand over to Senator Mooney, 
who is leading for Fianna Fáil.

Senator  Paschal Mooney: I welcome Ms graham.  I am sorry for sounding so formal.  I 
echo the pride that she has in having been appointed.  I am a firm supporter of the breaking of 
the glass ceiling in relation to women executives.  It is a wonderful progression that Ms graham 
is heading up one of the most important public utilities on the island, and not just in the Repub-
lic.  She brings enormous experience as a board member but also from her own background in 
banking and management, which I am sure will benefit the board and, ultimately, the country.

There is a public perception that the ESB has been one of the success stories of the semi-
State sector and that it is a hugely profitable company.  At the same time, we have experienced 
high consumer charges relative to the rest of Europe.  Does Ms graham have any views on that?  
I appreciate that she points out that the ESB needs to have an asset base in order to develop 
new technologies and the business, but at the same time the euro in the pocket is what bothers 
people, and energy prices are particularly high.

Ms graham touched on the question of renewables.  Does she have any views on how the 
ESB will progress in that regard?  As she knows, we have a very high dependency - some-
thing like 90% - on imported fuel.  Obviously, any alternative to that would be helpful to the 
economy.  Does Ms graham have any views on the challenges facing the ESB in terms of the 
expanding economy and increasing population, which place greater demands on the ESB to 
provide a service?  While it is not within her direct area, there is local opposition to the expan-
sion of the infrastructure of the service.  I presume Ms graham will see that as a challenge.  I do 
not have an answer to it, to be honest.  If on the one hand we are expanding our economy and 
increasing our population, there is a need on the other to continually upgrade our infrastructure.  
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However, there appears to be a very strong opposition and - I do not mean to be patronising - a 
NIMBY syndrome.  It is fine to expand the electricity network and ensure we have safe and 
secure access to energy in our homes, but if that requires extra infrastructure, I do not want it in 
my backyard or my area.  Does Ms graham see that as a challenge to be addressed in the years 
going forward?

I congratulate Ms graham on her appointment.  She has a very impressive CV and I have 
absolute confidence in the fact that she will bring a new dimension to her new job.  I wish her 
well.

Ms Ellvena Graham: I will take the last question first on meeting the challenges of the 
expanding economy.  The Senator is right that we need infrastructure.  There is no doubt.  If 
one looks at what the country is doing around foreign direct investment, it is a good example.  
Foreign companies are coming into Ireland.  Very often they ask how much of our energy is 
produced from renewable sources.  That is one of the drivers.  If we want to continue to expand 
our economy, we must demonstrate that we are serious about meeting our decarbonisation and, 
indeed, climate change targets.  We need the infrastructure.  I am from Northern Ireland, as 
the members know, and I see businesses North and South and the absolute need to have strong 
interconnections between North and South.  Businesses in the North in particular need that.  I 
am a supporter of building good infrastructure.  It is similar to what we did with the roads many 
years ago here in Ireland.  It is the same type of thing that we are trying to do again.  I under-
stand the opposition to infrastructure because, as the Senator says, a lot of people do not want 
anything anywhere near them.  However, if we want to progress as a modern economy, we will 
have to continue to develop and build out our infrastructure.  We will need to keep pushing 
ahead with our renewables.

The Senator asked about energy prices, which is certainly something everyone has asked me 
about since I took on the role.  The ESB has reduced the price of electricity in the last two years.  
One of the things I thought was the right thing to do was to reduce the price of electricity at the 
start of the winter.  That allowed customers to benefit when there was high peak usage over the 
winter months.  However, the cost of electricity is made up of a number of things, as the Senator 
knows.  It is not just the networks or the fuel; there are a number of different elements affect-
ing the price.  We will continue to work to take down the price of electricity.  In my time on 
the board, we have looked at the ESB’s cost base and reduced it since 2010 by more than €250 
million.  The costs are coming down and the cost of electricity is coming down, but at the same 
time we have to invest in the networks.  We have invested €6 billion there in the last ten years.  
We are investing in renewables and bringing wind farms online, with the networks having to be 
upgraded to accommodate that process.  It is a balancing act, but we are doing our very best to 
reduce the cost of electricity.

Senator  Paschal Mooney: I have a brief supplementary question.  I should have asked Ms 
graham whether the ESB is looking at the development of wave energy, which is becoming in-
creasingly important.  From being on a committee of the British-Irish Parliamentary Assembly 
which prepared a report on this, I appreciate that wave energy is at a pioneering stage.  How-
ever, there has been government investment in the area.  The west of Ireland has the highest 
potential for wave energy into the future.  Is the ESB engaging in that area and investing in it, 
and does Ms graham have any views?

Ms Ellvena Graham: We definitely are engaging in the west of Ireland in particular.  We 
are looking at waves and tidal energy and we are investing in those.  The only thing I would say 
is that it is a long-term rather than a short-term play.  The earliest one will see anything there 
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could be the next decade rather than the next year.  We are investing in it and we are trialling 
and testing it.  Those things take a long time to come to fruition.  However, we are investing in 
it and we are interested in it.  If it works it will be very good because we have plenty of water 
around us.

Deputy  Patrick O’Donovan: I wish Ms graham well.  Having heard her CV she is un-
doubtedly amply qualified for the role in the ESB.  I have some specific questions.  At this 
time of the year we are all conscious that ESB staff members are out working in every type of 
weather, as they were yesterday in my part of County Limerick.  They are out again this morn-
ing.  They e-mail constituency offices to give us updates on wind damage.  This time of the 
year also brings a fair amount of flooding, particularly in Cork city and Limerick.  Both have 
hydroelectric power plants, on the Lee and the Shannon, and both are susceptible to flooding.  
In the recent past Cork city endured a devastating flood when the Inniscarra reservoir was es-
sentially opened and Cork city was left vulnerable.  Millions of euro worth of damage was done 
to private and public property and many people are still recovering from that.

Similarly, in Limerick the Shannon flows through Ardnacrusha.  Limerick city is low lying 
and is very susceptible to tidal flooding.  If there is a perfect storm with the fluvial and tidal 
flooding and the hydroelectric power plant, it is a very dangerous situation for people who live 
along the very narrow channel from Limerick city to Ardnacrusha and onto the base of Lough 
Derg.  Will Ms graham comment on what the ESB is doing at those two places, in particular, 
and any other places that have hydroelectric power plants that are dependent on the damming of 
rivers?  Are there others in the country?  Have flood risk analyses and assessments been carried 
out?  Neither Cork nor Limerick wishes to have a repeat of what happened in 2008.

The other issue is the ESB’s relationship with Eirgrid.  Representatives of Eirgrid appeared 
before the committee recently and Ms graham might have seen the exchanges that took place.  
given her previous commercial role she will have a keen knowledge of the Northern Ireland 
energy market.  It appears from the evidence the committee received that Eirgrid is intent on 
putting the North-South interconnector through the counties of Cavan, Meath and Monaghan 
to facilitate an energy deficit in Northern Ireland.  Obviously, the ESB could potentially be a 
beneficiary of that.  The representatives of EirGrid said clearly to the committee that as far as 
they were concerned, under the instructions from the Commission for Energy Regulation based 
on the type of lattice structures that are proposed to be erected, the consumer in the Republic 
could look forward to a cut in their energy prices.  I am not surprised that Ms graham raised her 
eyebrows because pigs will fly before that will happen.  What proposal does the ESB have to 
cut energy costs as a result of the interconnector being built from Maynooth to County Tyrone?

There is a final matter.  I welcome the ESB’s recent commitment to apprentices.  That was 
hugely welcome.  Down through the years the ESB has been regarded as a great company in 
which to work.  Indeed, my learned colleague beside me is testament to that, although I am 
sure he can speak for himself.  It was often a family business, in the sense that fathers, sons and 
daughters ended up working in the ESB.  Will Ms graham elaborate on what plans there are for 
future apprenticeships in the company?

Ms Ellvena Graham: The Deputy covered a great deal but I will start with the last ques-
tion on apprenticeships.  The ESB has a long history of taking in apprentices and developing 
apprenticeships.  Pat O’Doherty, the chief executive, is chair of the apprenticeship association.  
Throughout the recession we had reduced the number slightly.  We were taking approximately 
60 apprentices, but that is up again now.  We intend to do that as we have seen the fruits of our 
investment in apprenticeships.  Often we use our training facilities in Portlaoise.  Apprentices 
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spend a number of weeks there in addition to the training provided by the government.  We 
are entirely committed to the apprenticeships.  Pat O’Doherty’s personal commitment demon-
strates that.  It is one of the success stories of the ESB.  When others had stopped taking on ap-
prenticeships we continued to take them throughout the leaner years and we will take on more 
of them into the future.  I am fully committed to what we are doing in that area.

The Deputy referred to the storms.  Last night was probably the stormiest night we have had, 
when storm Barney hit us.  This morning there are still approximately 15,000 homes without 
electricity and a number of them will be in the Deputy’s constituency.  The area south of a line 
from galway to Dublin was particularly badly hit.  ESB staff unstintingly go out in very dif-
ficult weather to keep the electricity supply going and to restore it as quickly as possible.  They 
are hoping to have it restored to all of those homes by this evening.  I am very proud of the work 
they do.  It is certainly a 24/7 organisation in that regard.  People must work shifts.  During 
storm Darwin we took over 200,000 calls from customers about electricity outages, so we work 
hard.  We have invested in the network.  Some of it can be fixed remotely when there are issues.  
In other cases people must go out.  If a tree falls down on a line they must go out to do that work.  
Unless the wind picks up again today we hope to have the problem addressed by this evening.

On flooding, I recently went to Cork to see the Lee dams and what had happened in Cork, 
because I am not particularly familiar with the area.  We have appealed the judgment so I do 
not wish to say a great deal about it.  I believe we operate the Lee dams, and indeed all of our 
dams, to the highest international best practice.  That is not to say that we do not continue to 
improve or to examine what we are doing, but I believe our teams on the night managed that as 
well as they could in terms of what confronted them.  The dams were over-spilling and had to 
be safely managed.  We conduct a great deal of analysis.  We have had international expertise 
helping us with analysis of that and we continue to improve how we manage the dams.  At the 
same time, however, there is a large amount of water when there are high floods and the dams 
are only a certain height and size.  I cannot say there will not be another flood in any area in 
Ireland because of the dams.

The Deputy asked about the North-South interconnector.  I cannot comment on any asser-
tion that there will be a cut in energy prices but the interconnector is certainly necessary, par-
ticularly for the businesses in Northern Ireland.  They were pleased when they heard it is now 
in planning.  I am not sure which route it will take between the North and the South, as that 
has yet to be conclusively ironed out.  We need an interconnector and we need to be able to use 
the electricity North and South.  I am not sure that the ESB will be the biggest beneficiary in 
Northern Ireland.  We only went into the retail supply market in Northern Ireland last month, so 
we have to build the business of supplying consumers there.  We have been supplying corpo-
rate customers for ten years or more but we only started to supply retail customers in Northern 
Ireland in October last.

Deputy  Patrick O’Donovan: I thank Ms graham for her reply.  What would she say to 
the communities in Cavan, Monaghan and Meath who will have this structure erected on top of 
them?  There has been little or no consultation, or it is meaningless consultation, with Eirgrid.  
At the same time Eirgrid walked away from a similar project in the south east and it is due to 
walk away from a similar project in the west, telling us there will be local solutions.  I asked 
another chairperson designate this question so I will put it to Ms graham as well.  Would she 
like to live beside a pylon?

Chairman: I want to be fair about this, Deputy, but we are discussing the ESB today, not 
Eirgrid.
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Deputy  Patrick O’Donovan: I appreciate your intervention, but one cannot operate with-
out the other.

Chairman: Yes.  I do not wish to prevent discussion but it is important that we cover it with 
the people who are responsible for it.  If Ms graham wishes to comment on it, I will allow it.

Ms Ellvena Graham: I was going to say that.  I do not wish to comment on what Eirgrid is 
doing, whether it is north, south, east or west.  The Deputy asked a direct question on whether I 
would live beside a pylon.  Honestly, if it was a choice of electricity or no electricity, I would be 
comfortable if I was beside a pylon.  I will not say any more on that.  I do not want to comment 
on what Eirgrid is doing.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: I welcome Ms graham and congratulate her.  It is probably an 
unusual move from banking into electricity supply.  When did she join the board?

Ms Ellvena Graham: I joined the board in 2010.  I left my job in the bank in May of this 
year.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: The brief details provided here indicate that she is eminently 
qualified to be chairperson.  I am delighted to see that she speaks with a passion for the ESB.  
I believe I heard on the news this morning that approximately 15,000 homes are without sup-
ply.  One recognises the good name and reputation of the ESB because most, if not all of those 
affected will have their electricity restored by this evening.  Although we fall out with the ESB 
every now and again, most of us have a very high regard for the operations of the ESB.

Ms graham spoke about the North-South interconnector and I will not go into detail on that. 
What are her thoughts on the potential for EU-wide electricity supply?  What are her thoughts 
on microgeneration and particularly the cost of connections to the national grid?  The cost of 
connections effectively means that we are dampening down the potential for microgeneration 
of electricity.

I am happy that Ms graham mentioned affordability in her paper.  All of us, as Deputies, 
come across people who just cannot afford the cost of electricity in their homes.  I ask Ms gra-
ham to talk about the role of the ESB vis-à-vis the regulator in terms of affordability.

The next group to appear before the committee is an association set up to represent the own-
ers of electric vehicles.  It is unfortunate that the ESB will charge for electric vehicles.  Is there 
any potential to re-examine that decision?

What is Ms graham’s view on the relationship between ESB management and the group of 
unions in the company?

Ms Ellvena Graham: There is a lot in that.  I will take the last one first.  I believe ESB 
management and unions have a constructive relationship.  The Deputy will be aware that we 
have four worker-directors on our board.  They make a good solid contribution to the board.  I 
believe they have the good of the company at heart.  The ESB has come on a long journey and 
once one talks about taking costs out of an organisation, naturally there is a tension there.  How-
ever, I think it has been managed as well as it could have been.  The relationship seems to be as 
open as it could be and I believe both parties are working constructively.  I hope that continues 
throughout my tenure on the board because as we look to the future it is incredibly important 
that we continue to work well with the unions.
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The Deputy mentioned electric vehicles.  The ESB has invested significantly and substan-
tially in installing a charging network throughout the country.  There are a number of fast charg-
ing points and almost 1,000 standard charging points throughout Ireland, as well as, obviously, 
the opportunity to charge a car at home.  Recent press reports referred to a monthly charge of 
€16.99 for people who wanted to use charging points on the motorway, etc.  Up to now it has 
been free.  We need to run it as a commercial operation and the management is considering 
a range of options.  Some customers may never want to do that and just continue to charge 
overnight at home.  They may want to have an option of using one of the public chargers on an 
emergency basis and paying for that.  There are a range of options and I do not believe we have 
seen the full story yet.  The ESB needs to run it as a commercial operation.  Those charges will 
not apply until April 2016, but a range of tariffs will come out between now and then.

The Deputy asked about EU-wide electricity.  We no longer operate as an island, but as a 
group of islands with great Britain.  We have interconnectors between North and South and 
between east and west, across into Britain.  Do I envisage having interconnectors into France?  
Yes, I am sure that will happen.  Having EU-wide electricity will take time.  The important 
thing for us is to have security of supply.  That is what the government is looking for and what 
ESB is working towards.  That is why we have a diverse mix in our portfolio, incorporating 
wind, gas, water and whatever else.  It is important for us to look at the newer technologies as 
well, which is why we are looking at things such as wave technology and solar.  We certainly 
need to look at energy in an EU context, but we also need to look at it from an Irish perspective 
and what we are doing to meet our targets and to have a secure supply here in Ireland.

The Deputy spoke about microgeneration and the cost of connections.  If I understand his 
question, he was asking about smaller operators trying to get on to the grid, very often in remote 
areas.  There is an additional cost for a person at the end of a line.  Ireland is rather peculiar in 
that we have double the network that one might have in other places with fewer houses on it.  
At the end of every road or lane there is a house and therefore the network has to cover all of 
that.  We try to make it as competitive and cost-effective as we can.  I am sure not everybody is 
happy with the price.  That is about the height of it.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: There seems to be a difference between Northern Ireland and 
here in terms of the cost of connecting to the grid.  Northern Ireland seems to encourage people 
to set up microgeneration and connect to the grid.  I know of a chicken farmer in Monaghan, an 
area with many poultry units.  He spoke to other chicken farmers about plans to convert chicken 
droppings into electricity.  He invested a lot of money in it but the killing point was the cost of 
connection to the grid.  I think he has worked through it and hopefully has resolved that, but 
it was almost a tipping point.  All of his good work might have fallen because of the cost of 
connecting to the grid.  It seems to be much easier and certainly not as expensive in Northern 
Ireland.

Ms Ellvena Graham: I do not know the cost of connecting in the North.  Yesterday I was 
in Stormont for another reason.  I know a number of the smaller producers are coming to Stor-
mont because they are not happy with what is going on in terms of subsidies and connections.  
So I am not sure they are entirely happy either.  I am sorry, but I do not actually know the cost 
difference between North and South.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: Ms graham might take a look at that area.

Ms Ellvena Graham: We will certainly take a look at it.
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Chairman: I call Senator Brennan, followed by Deputy Fitzmaurice.

Senator  Terry Brennan: I wish Ms graham well in her new position.  I am not the learned 
friend of my colleague here, but I spent in excess of 30 years in the ESB.  The organisation 
has come a long way.  In my young days it was a success to get somebody to sign up to take 
electricity supply for nothing - people for generations had done without electricity and they did 
not want it.  We have come a long way.  I would also like to acknowledge the reintroduction of 
the ESB apprenticeship scheme.  I am familiar with business people who started out as appren-
tices in the ESB and are now, as a result of the experience they gained in that regard, running 
successful businesses in various parts of this country and the world.  The ESB has been a great 
employer.  During the weather conditions which we experienced last night and the night before, 
many of my former colleagues were out risking their lives working on poles of up to 35 ft. high 
while trying to reconnect electricity supplies.  

The North-South interconnector project is a huge problem for the communities of Meath, 
Monaghan and, in particular, Cavan.  I am sure Ms graham is aware that it is proposed to re-
place the existing 275kV North-South interconnector with a 440kV interconnector.  I do not 
expect Ms graham to be able to respond to my question but perhaps she would put to the board 
the question of whether the existing infrastructure can be used to increase the power or if it 
would be possible to run a 220kV interconnector underground in parallel with the existing one, 
such that nothing would change in terms of the current overhead infrastructure.  I would like 
to know the cost of running an overhead 440kV interconnector in place of the existing one.  
In my humble opinion, and based on my little knowledge of this area, it is possible to run an 
underground 220kV interconnector in parallel with the current infrastructure and thus satisfy 
demand.  I realise, perhaps more than others, the importance of interconnection in times of 
demand but I would like to know if what I have proposed is possible and the likely cost in that 
regard.  Many communities and parishes in Cavan-Monaghan and Meath are divided on this 
issue.  Farming families are being compensated for allowing these pylons on their land and this 
is leading to division among families.  Perhaps Ms graham would put that proposal to the board 
and communicate with the committee as soon as possible on whether it is feasible.  I wish Ms 
graham every success.

Ms Ellvena Graham: That would be a matter for the Eirgrid board.  ESB does not have 
any remit in relation to the cost of lines, whether overground or underground.

Senator  Terry Brennan: It could respond on whether my proposition is feasible or not.

Ms Ellvena Graham: We will consider the matter.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I thank Ms graham for her presentation.  Like other Depu-
ties and Senators, I would like to see the ESB drive on its apprenticeship programme.  For far 
too long, we have neglected apprenticeships in this country.  I would ask Ms graham to pursue 
this programme and, where possible, to increase numbers in that regard.

I read in the media recently that the ESB subsidises wind energy to the tune of approximate-
ly €100 million.  Is that correct and what is Ms graham’s view in that regard?  In regard to the 
control of water, in respect of which Deputy O’Donovan spoke about the River Lee, there is a 
major problem on the River Shannon in that because the gates are not being opened, houses are 
at risk of being flooded.  Why does the ESB not row in with the farming organisations and so 
on to ensure a plan is drawn up to clean the river?  In many cases, the reason for the flooding is 
pollution in the river.  gates are not being opened because it is not possible, owing to silt levels, 
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to hold back the river.  I would welcome Ms graham’s views on that matter.

I understand five nuclear plants are to be built in the UK.  Does Ms Graham foresee a day 
when Ireland will be able to import electricity at a cheaper cost than it can produce it?  I also 
understand that the existing ESB generator can only handle 50% of electricity generated by 
wind and that there is pressure on the ESB to increase this to 75%.  The cost of upgrading the 
generator is estimated to be €800 million.  I know that the ESB is opposed to this proposal and 
that its hand is being forced in this regard.  I understand the ESB has been asked to review the 
proposal and report back to the regulator within the next 18 months.  What is Ms graham’s 
view on that?  Is the ESB, in terms of subsidisation and upgrade of the generation system, being 
forced to spend money badly?

Ms Ellvena Graham: I think I have answered the question on apprenticeships.  We are 
happy to drive those forward.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I would ask that ESB drive it on to ensure the creation of as 
many apprenticeships as possible.

Ms Ellvena Graham: We will.  On the wind subsidies, they are government subsidies.  The 
ESB does not subsidise wind farms.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Is Ms graham saying that ESB does not give any money 
to wind farms?

Ms Ellvena Graham: Not that I am aware of.  I will come back to the Deputy on that.  I am 
not aware that ESB is subsidising any wind farm.  In regard to the flooding of the River Shan-
non and the need to clean up the river, I am not close enough yet to know if ESB is currently 
looking at that issue with any other agency.  It is something we can take a look it.  While the 
ESB would not have responsibility for cleaning the river, I presume it can be done.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: We have been hearing for years from people that they will 
look at this, that and the other.  Actions speak louder than words.  I am asking that Ms graham 
take an interest in the issue so as to alleviate problems for families and the ESB.

Ms Ellvena Graham: I will look into what is happening in terms of the Shannon scheme.  
The Deputy asked if it might be cheaper in the future to import electricity from the UK.  He also 
mentioned that the UK are building five new nuclear plants.  I was not aware of that.  Nuclear 
energy is cheaper.  In terms of the interconnectors, we could currently be importing nuclear 
energy through our interconnector because we sometimes import electricity through that inter-
connector from Britain.  There is no doubt but that nuclear power will always be cheaper than 
that which we are currently generating.  It is against the law to build nuclear plants here, so I do 
not think it is likely we will be doing that.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I know that.  I am asking if Ms graham foresees a day 
when, despite our having put in place additional infrastructure, it will be cheaper for us to im-
port electricity than to produce it here?  Electricity prices here are the third highest in Europe.  
Businesses here are struggling to be competitive because of the cost of electricity.

Ms Ellvena Graham: We can import electricity.  I refer the Deputy to what I said earlier in 
terms of our wanting to have our own secure supply of electricity as an island.  To do that, we 
have to have our own generation capacity.  We also have to have that if we want to meet our 
renewable targets.  Currently, approximately 10% or 11% of ESB’s electricity is generated from 



12

ESB: CHAIRPERSON DESIgNATE

renewables.  Our target is to generate 25% of our electricity from renewables by 2025.  The 
government has set a target of 40% of electricity for Ireland as a whole to be generated from 
renewables by 2020.  The ESB is playing its part in that.  Our target as a company, and what we 
have signed up to, is to have 25% of our generation from renewables by 2025.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I understand where Ms graham is coming from, but there 
are days when the wind does not blow and other days when it is at 50%.  With the rock-off on 
the generation, we cannot handle any more than 50%.  There is pressure on the ESB at the mo-
ment to bring that higher in order to take more of it when there is a windy day or night.  Is it 
not true to say that an €800 million investment on the generation side is needed to handle that 
capacity?

Ms Ellvena Graham: Does Deputy Fitzmaurice mean for Ireland as a whole, not just for 
the ESB?

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: For the ESB to be able to handle the wind side of it if we 
go from 50% to 75%.

Ms Ellvena Graham: I honestly do not know what the figure is.  I do not know what invest-
ment would be required.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Does Ms graham think €800 million would be a worth-
while investment if my figures are correct?

Ms Ellvena Graham: given that, as Deputy Fitzmaurice mentioned, on many days the 
wind does not blow, there are times when the investment would not be of any benefit to us.  In 
order to go to that level we would need to find some way to store the capacity that is created, 
because very often the wind blows at night when there is an over-supply.  We would have to 
find some way to store that and use it when we need it at peak times.  It is a complex question 
and many things would have to be looked at before anybody would invest €800 million in a 
network.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: The issue is that these answers must be given within the 
next 18 months because they have to go and look at it.  The regulator or other body has given 
an ultimatum to the ESB that it will need to do that.  Are we looking at viable economic options 
or are we living in cloud cuckoo land because of EU laws that have been shoved on the ESB to 
the effect that it must meet certain targets?

Ms Ellvena Graham: I do not know the answer to the question about the €800 million, but 
we are trying to meet Ireland’s targets, to which the government has signed up.  It is not a target 
that anybody else has foisted on us.  It is something that Ireland Inc. needs to do and the ESB 
is happy to play its part in that.

Deputy  Helen McEntee: I thank Ms graham.  I apologise for being late, but I saw most of 
the presentation on the monitor.  Much of my focus at the moment is on supply and also diver-
sity of supply.  In County Meath there is a proposal for an industrial wind farm, but we are also 
on the route of the North-South interconnector.  There is a lot of upset in that regard.  I accept 
it is not necessarily Ms graham’s area.  I have done much research in the past two and a half 
years in particular for the oral hearing on the proposed wind farm.  There is disappointingly 
little focus on solar energy or any other type of energy for the 2020 targets.  All of the focus 
seems to be on wind.  What is Ms graham’s view on the future of solar energy, bio-energy or 
other alternatives in terms of the energy supply for the ESB?
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Deputy Fitzmaurice said the ESB needs to find a way to store energy that has been wasted.  
Is research under way at the moment on how to store energy, for example, from wind turbines 
when the wind blows at night and energy is not needed?

There is a great debate at the moment on renewable energy.  Proposals have been put for-
ward for the conversion of Moneypoint, which uses coal, to sustainable biomass.  It has been 
suggested that such a change would immediately allow us to achieve our 2020 targets, reduce 
emissions by 85% and solve many problems in terms of wind turbines and pylons.  What is Ms 
graham’s view on the matter?  I wish her well in her new position.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: I want to ask a couple of questions about meters and cards.  People 
in poorer areas request that meters be installed and they want to have a card.  Is it intended to 
continue that process or has it come to an end?

Sometimes the fee for reconnection following a disconnection is excessive.  Some people 
struggle in that regard if they move into a new home and they have to reconnect the electricity 
supply.  There is an awful rigmarole attached.  Is there flexibility in that regard?  I invite Ms 
graham to tell us about the process.

The cost of electricity never seems to come down, in spite of the fluctuations in fuel prices.  
It always lags well behind and the benefit is never passed on to customers.  Certainly, that is the 
impression most people have - that when fuel prices come down the electricity prices do not 
come down correspondingly.

I assume the ESB is in the market in terms of the roll-out of electric cars.  Stations need to 
be set up.  Does Ms graham see potential for the ESB to expand into that area?

Ms Ellvena Graham: I will take that question first and then come back to the other ques-
tions.

Chairman: Perhaps Ms Graham could take Deputy McEntee’s questions first.

Ms Ellvena Graham: Okay.  I will come back to the questions from Deputy Ellis.  The 
first question related to diversity of supply.  Deputy McEntee is dead right; everybody does 
talk about renewables when they talk about decarbonisation.  The ESB is also very interested 
in solar energy.  We have signed a deal with Kingspan, another Irish company, to put solar pan-
els onto roofs.  In Northern Ireland there is much more of an uptake at the moment because of 
the subsidies for solar energy there compared to in the Republic.  That is something to which 
we are very committed.  Solar energy makes up a small percentage of energy generated at the 
moment.  Wind is a number of years ahead in terms of capacity and the sheer engineering and 
development of solar energy.

Reference was also made to biomass and Moneypoint.  There is much talk about the future 
of Moneypoint.  It is our largest station.  It is located in the west and electricity is generated 
from coal.  We have spent almost €300 million on trying to make Moneypoint cleaner, but it is 
still using coal.  If we were to convert it to biomass, which I have heard discussed a number of 
times, first, there is a significant cost attached to such a conversion and, second-----

Deputy  Helen McEntee: Does Ms graham have an idea of the costs?

Ms Ellvena Graham: I asked the very same question.  A similar plant in the UK has been 
converted from coal to biomass and it cost in the order of £300 million or £400 million.  The 
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other thing about biomass is that to get enough biomass to feed Moneypoint, one would end up 
having to import a significant amount of biomass.  That brings with it its own carbon footprint 
when one takes into account transport by boat from the United States or wherever else.  It is not 
possible to give a straightforward answer and to say we will convert Moneypoint to biomass 
but it is certainly something we keep under review.  Coal is very cheap at the moment so it is 
helping to keep the cost of electricity down for the Irish consumer.  There is no easy answer.  
It is something we continue to examine.  I am keen for the ESB to retain a focus on diversity.  
We have developed wind energy.  We will have to continue with some fossil fuels for the short 
term but we must have a nice diverse portfolio rather than having all our eggs in the one basket.  
There is not an easy answer to that one.

Deputy  Helen McEntee: Would Ms graham say that if Moneypoint were converted to 
biomass it would increase the cost of electricity to the consumer, or could the costs come down 
further down the line?

Ms Ellvena Graham: given that it is renewable energy, there may be subsidies available.  
I do not know what would happen, as that would be a policy decision.  It would be hard to say 
what the cost would be, but at the moment it could cost money just to convert the plant, and we 
would have to pay to import biomass, so there would be an additional cost.  That said, we are 
paying to import coal as well, but it is important not to lose sight of those two things.

Deputy Ellis asked me about pay-as-you-go meters.  We have 60,000 of those at the moment 
and we do not have any plans of which I am aware to stop having them.  We find they are useful.  
The Deputy asked about disconnections.  Disconnecting somebody is always a last resort.  If the 
customer engages with the ESB, the ESB will not disconnect them.  The ESB wants to engage 
with customers, as it is a hassle to disconnect and then have to reconnect again, and nobody 
wants to go through that.  If a customer engages meaningfully with the ESB then disconnection 
would be absolutely the last resort.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: I am thinking particularly of senior citizens.  The ESB has a deal with 
the government relating to fuel allowance.  Does it contribute towards the allowance or is it 
compensated for it by the government?

Ms Ellvena Graham: I have no idea.  I am sorry, but I would have to look into that and 
come back with an answer to the Deputy.

Deputy  Helen McEntee: What about my question on storing energy?

Ms Ellvena Graham: We are working on that with the large suppliers such as Siemens.  The 
ESB has been involved in the trialling of that equipment and we have participated in a number 
of tests.  It would be a game changer for everybody if it came in, so we are very interested in it.

Chairman: Ms graham mentioned the charges that are to be introduced relating to electric 
cars.  Was it signalled at the beginning that there would be a period of no charge?  I heard a 
suggestion that the events at Volkswagen would kick off a real engagement with electric cars.  
There was a lot of publicity over the charges and it was stated that the charges for electric cars 
would be only minimally different from those for diesel cars.  We are to have a presentation 
on this matter later, so I would be grateful if Ms graham could broaden our knowledge of that 
issue.

Ms Ellvena Graham: On electric charge points, it was agreed up front that there would be 
a free period and that charging would be introduced from April 2016, and that is what we are 
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working towards.  It is not just about the cost of charging.  There are lots of other interventions 
relating to electric vehicles.  Why are there so many electric vehicles in the UK?  It is because 
there are all kinds of incentives such as benefit-in-kind tax reductions.

Chairman: Yes.  Another was legislation to allow the use of taxi lanes.

Ms Ellvena Graham: Yes, and free parking while charging a vehicle.  At the moment there 
is a good grant of €5,000 for buying an electric vehicle, so there are a number of incentives.  If 
a person charges a vehicle overnight at home, when it might take six or eight hours, they use 
the cheaper units - seven, eight or nine units - and that would be approximately half the cost of 
doing it during the day.

Chairman: A lot of education is also required.

Ms Ellvena Graham: Yes; a lot of education is required.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: There is a tipping point in every development and I do not be-
lieve we are there yet with electric vehicles.  It would make sense for the ESB, the Department 
of the Environment, Community and Local government and other agencies to sit down together 
and work everything out, and not just the charge for charging a vehicle.  Does the technology 
exist for a person living on the seventh floor of an apartment block to use domestic overnight 
charging rates?

Ms Ellvena Graham: It is more difficult because of the electricity supply into a multi-floor 
apartment.  There could be a public charge point in the basement of an apartment block but to 
have a private one is slightly more complicated, though there is nothing to say it is impossible.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: So the technology exists.

Ms Ellvena Graham: The technology exists for public charge points, as far as I am aware.  
The people coming into the committee later will have a more informed opinion on this matter 
than I.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: It is unfortunate that charges are coming in April, because we 
are approaching the point at which people will be deciding to go for an electric vehicle.  It will 
be a disincentive.  I would like to see a whole-of-government approach to this.

Chairman: We can take it up at another forum. I thank Ms graham for engaging with us.  
I have no doubt that, with the enthusiastic approach she has demonstrated today, her term will 
be very successful.  We will forward the transcript of today’s discussion to the Minister for 
Communications, Energy and Natural Resources, Deputy Alex White, for his information and 
consideration.

Ms Ellvena Graham: Thank you, Chairman.

Sitting suspended at 11.15 a.m. and resumed at 11.20 a.m.

Electric Vehicles: Discussion with Irish EV Owners Association

Chairman: The next item is a discussion with representatives of the Irish EV Owners’ As-
sociation on the subject of electric cars.  We are all more conscious of the benefits of electric 
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vehicles, having recently engaged with the Volkswagen group on incorrect emissions readings.  
On behalf of the joint committee, I welcome Mr. Frank Barr, Mr. Paddy Carroll, Mr. Joe Mc-
Carthy and Mr. guillaume Séguin of the Irish EV Owners Association.  I draw their attention to 
the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected 
by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  If witnesses are directed 
by the committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and continue to do so they 
are entitled thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  Witnesses are 
directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be 
given and are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they 
should not criticise or make charges against any person, persons, or entity by name or in such a 
way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  I wish to advise also that any submission or opening 
statements witnesses have made to the committee may be published on the committee website 
after the meeting.  I remind members of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect 
that they should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person or persons outside 
the Houses or an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  I 
now invite Mr. Paddy Carroll to make the association’s opening statement.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: The Irish EV Owners Association was formed in March 2015 and is the 
first and only association of this kind in Ireland.  At present, there are 1,100 pure electric cars 
in Ireland, that is, 1,100 have been introduced in the five-year period since 2011.  In the same 
five-year period, Norway and the Netherlands have introduced 66,000 and 60,000, respectively.  
To us, the reason this is the case is very simple, that is, the governments of these countries have 
given huge incentives to the electric car buyer.  There are incentives in Ireland, which include 
a €5,000 Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland, SEAI, grant.  Moreover, the cars are exempt 
from VRT, there is a free ESB ecar home charger and there is free use of the ESB charging 
network.  Ireland’s target, under the renewable energy supply directive, is to ensure that 10% of 
its transport energy comes from renewable sources by 2020.  This would mean 200,000 electric 
vehicles and to reach the target, we believe more incentives from the government are needed.

The Irish EV Owners Association proposes to the joint committee a plan of incentives to 
have in place for five years only, starting in 2016.  First, a national blanket policy should be 
introduced in cities and towns to allow electric vehicles free access to bus lanes, to have no 
charges on toll roads and free parking while charging at the chargers in each county, as well as 
at the Luas and Iarnród Éireann stations.  To implement this, we recommend a statutory instru-
ment.  Second, all county councils should be instructed to have painted the parking spaces at 
the chargers.  A statutory instrument already is in place, No. 330 of 2014, and while some local 
authorities have done this, for example, Wexford, Limerick, Wicklow and Tipperary, some are 
quite resistant.  ESB ecars has installed an impressive infrastructure of chargers in towns and 
cities but to be effective, the parking spaces at the chargers must be painted.  Third, all county 
councils should be instructed to implement SI 325 of 2014 to the effect that the charging space 
is for electric vehicles only.  An inability to charge one’s vehicle because a non-electric car is 
blocking the charger makes driving an electric vehicle unviable and totally frustrating.  It can 
be a huge problem in rural towns where there is only one charger in the town.

Fourth, an SEAI grant of €1,000 should be introduced for points of interest, which have 
been listed in the submission, towards the purchase and installation of an electric vehicle char-
ger on their premises.  Fifth, an SEAI grant of €1,000 should be introduced for employers to 
install a charger for motorists to charge their vehicles at work.  Sixth, a charger provider should 
be given €2 million each year for five years to expand the fast charge point infrastructure.  The 
network in Ireland already is very good thanks to ESB ecars and a European Union grant un-
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der the TEN-T programme.  We believe some routes and areas still are poorly catered for and 
for example, the Wild Atlantic Way needs a fast charge point every 120 km along the route.  
Seventh, the A0 tax band should be reduced to being free.  Our neighbours in Northern Ireland 
automatically have free road tax when they purchase an electric car and zero emissions should 
lead to zero tax.  Eighth, an SEAI grant of €1,200 should be introduced towards the purchase 
and installation of a solar photovoltaic, pv system in one’s house, which then would encourage 
those people to buy an electric car.  Ninth, there should be a zero rate for benefit-in-kind tax 
applicable to companies and employees who drive electric vehicles.  Tenth, the building regula-
tions should be amended for new homes to facilitate the installation of a 7 kW charge point in 
the initial build.  Eleventh, there should be an obligation for any new factories or commercial 
buildings with internal or external car parks to include dedicated charging spaces proportionate-
ly, say, two per 100 spaces.  Twelfth, as ESB ecars will start charging for the use of infrastruc-
ture and electricity in January 2016, can members, in partnership with the ESB, not subsidise 
this cost for a period of five years?  Thirteenth, the €5,000 SEAI grant should be continued for 
the next five years and fourteenth, public education and promotion and Government advertising 
are needed in this area.

The benefits of electric cars are twofold for Ireland, both economic and environmental.  If 
Ireland is to reach its mandated emissions targets for CO2 electric cars must play a significant 
part.  Let us reach our targets as it can be done by incentives; is féidir linn.  Finally, EV car sales 
in Cork have increased by 205% in 2015 to date over the 2014 rate because of incentives given.  
The Drive4Zero programme, spearheaded by the Minister, Deputy Coveney, gave incentives 
that included free parking while charging, free tolls at Fermoy, incentives to companies, 0% 
finance at dealers, chargers installed in multi-storey car parks etc.  Consequently, incentives 
work.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Carroll.  Obviously, the association has presented a comprehensive 
wish list and it is good it is clearly outlined.  Before handing over to Deputy Dooley, can I ask 
whether there is any particular priority?  Are there key items in that wish list that could make 
for rapid change?  Second, the joint committee has just interviewed the chair-designate of the 
ESB on her appointment as chair of the board.  The witnesses may be aware the electric car is-
sue came up in the course of that meeting with regard to the charges that are being introduced 
in January for new applicants and in April for those who already had electric cars.  Can Mr. 
Carroll comment on that point and on the charges?  Does the association perceive this to be 
a setback?  Mr. Carroll mentioned the incentives and my impression, as I read down through 
them, was that many of them are the responsibility of local authorities.  Mr. Carroll mentioned 
free toll charges in Cork and was that done with the local authority?  Mr. Carroll might explain 
how that was done.  I invite him to respond to these points at the outset, after which I will hand 
over to members.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: To start with the issue of the ESB charging for the infrastructure and 
the electricity, it has set out one charge package with which EV owners and drivers are unhappy 
because they must pay 30 cent per minute at the fast charger, which makes a full charge cost 
approximately €9.  We met the ESB last Monday and it has stated its intention to bring out other 
packages.  We have been urging our points of view as to what type of packages there should be 
on the ESB.  It is going to look at that issue and meet us again.  Therefore, it is in the pipeline, 
but it is a setback at this stage when we are trying to promote EV.  However, it is a company that 
must make money and the infrastructure must be paid for.  We do not mind paying for it, but it 
must be reasonable and help to promote EV, not take six steps backwards.
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On Nos. 2 and 3, it involves the county councils, some of which are very pro-EV.  I have a 
list of county councils that will allow us free parking while we are charging our vehicles, while 
others have stated we have to pay for parking.  Therefore, there is no joined-up thinking.  It 
does not cost anybody any money, not even county councils.  The ESB will paint the charging 
bays for ecars free of charge.  Dublin City Council is one of the worst in this regard.  It is only 
in the past month or so that it has given permission for some spaces to be painted.  Dublin is an 
EV-unfriendly city.  I was here two weeks ago and had to drive around to find a charger.  The 
committee could instruct it to implement the statutory instruments in place which are not being 
implemented.

Mr. Frank Barr: That picture has been taken in Castlebar where there are only two char-
gers.  If people have a journey they want to make and what we prefer to call the charger is 
blocked, that is the end of the journey until somebody decides to move his or her car, which 
could take a day or two.  The incentives mentioned look like a huge wish list, but they have 
worked in Norway which is not a country in which it is very conducive to use electric cars be-
cause the temperatures are so low and the distance one can travel in an electric car is seriously 
reduced.

Chairman: I attended a presentation some time ago by the chairman of the transport com-
mittee in the Norwegian Parliament.  It was very impressive, but somebody said to me after-
wards that the price of an ordinary car in Norway was huge compared to that in Ireland.  I 
did not have that information at the time.  Is VRT taken off?  Somebody mentioned a price of 
€50,000 or €60,000 for a car.

Mr. Frank Barr: There is no tax applied to electric cars which I think accounts for perhaps 
50% of the price of a car.

Chairman: Yes, but the initial cost is very high.  Is that true?

Mr. Paddy Carroll: There are no purchase taxes on electric cars and the purchase tax is 
extremely high in Norway.  There is also a VAT exemption of 25%.  There are no road toll 
charges, while there is free parking while a person is charging his or her vehicle and free access 
to bus lanes.

Chairman: These incentives were outlined, but not all of the information was given on the 
day.  I only received it afterwards.

Deputy  Timmy Dooley: I thank Mr. Carroll for his presentation.  While I do not have an 
electric vehicle, I certainly think its use is something we should be supporting through policy.  
Electric vehicles will not suit everybody, but they will suit many.  If we are to make a meaning-
ful impact in addressing climate change, they will be a very significant component of the shift.

I agree with nearly everything Mr. Carroll said.  I am working on a policy document that 
will include many of recommendations sought by the delegates.  There are some issues in the 
use of bus lanes.  Bus lanes in Ireland generally are not of a standard that they can take addi-
tional vehicles; therefore, there are some constraints and concerns.  I recognise that this happens 
in some countries, that they have high occupancy vehicle lanes, to which cars carrying more 
than two or three passengers have privileged access.  In that context, we could look at electric 
vehicles being allowed to use them.  The delegates are pushing an open door with me.  I com-
pletely support what they are doing.  

The long-term solution is adopting a whole-of-government approach incorporating the lo-
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cal authorities.  It must be co-ordinated by the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport in 
consultation with the Department of the Environment, Community and Local government.  We 
cannot adopt an approach that is not uniform.  If somebody leaves Kildare to drive into the city, 
he or she must have the same expectations in terms of signage.  Road signage is not provided 
on county by county basis.  There is a uniform approach to the mapping system in terms of road 
signage.  That is the only way we can address this issue adequately.  

I suggest a section of the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport act as lead and pull 
all other Departments into line in order that somebody purchasing an electric vehicle would 
have a memorandum of understanding on what was available and what he or she was going to 
receive because it is a considerable step for somebody to take.  As Mr. Barr said, if somebody is 
away from his or her normal place of residence or destination, he or she must be assured that he 
or she will have access to a charging point.  Those of us who drive diesel or petrol cars would 
not dream of heading somewhere if we knew we would not be able to top up our fuel.  That is 
the reality.  We must provide the infrastructure first.  Nobody is suggesting a person travel to a 
location where there are no roads and that if enough people buy cars, the roads will be provided.  
It does not work like that; one needs the investment first.  

I do not for one minute accept that the ESB should change its charging regime.  We are so 
far behind in reaching our target that anything that would act as a disincentive should not be 
considered.  If it is already a disincentive for those who have already converted their vehicles, 
what must it be like for the people we are trying to attract?  There is a huge job of work to be 
done that involves considerable investment in infrastructure, a uniform roll-out of services and 
a very strong marketing campaign.  We also need a carrot approach.  People need to know that 
for the next five or ten years, there would be a considerable saving to them.  Sadly, they are not 
of a mind in large numbers to do things because it would be good for the environment.  They 
will do it if it benefits them financially; therefore, we have to make the financial incentives ad-
equate and appropriate.  

Another issue was not addressed by Mr. Carroll; it concerns the public bus network.  I know 
that the technology is at an early stage, but where the State invests in public infrastructure and 
public transport, including buses, through Transport Ireland, we must look at investing in the 
use of the appropriate technology.  As the delegates know better than I do, it is only when there 
is critical mass that companies actually start to invest more in the technology available.  

I do not really have questions.  I thank the delegates for the presentation and wish them well 
in their continued efforts in this regard.

Chairman: Deputy Dessie Ellis is giving way to Deputy Michael Fitzmaurice.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I thank the delegates for the presentation.  Like the previ-
ous speaker, I agree that there is a need for charging points in all places.  Mr. Carroll referred to 
Cork.  Did the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine not have points made available in 
all parts of Cork and not get the toll operators to agree not to charge tolls to EV car users?  Will 
Mr. Carroll elaborate on that point?  

How much does a car that can carry two adults and three children cost when one does not 
have to pay VRT?  How much does a car cost when one has claimed back all of the money?

Mr. Frank Barr: On average, the cost is between €20,000 and €28,000, depending on the 
model bought.



20

ELECTRIC VEHICLES: DISCUSSION WITH IRISH EV OWNERS ASSOCIATION

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Therefore, the cost is pretty competitive when everything is 
drawn back.  When a person charges such a car, how far will it bring him or her?

Mr. Frank Barr: That is a difficult question to answer; it depends on whether one is talking 
about the summer or the winter.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: It is like winter here all year round.

Mr. Frank Barr: One will probably be able to drive about 120 or 130 km in winter.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Should there be an emphasis on people driving in cities?  It 
is 190 km or 200 km for me to travel from A to B.

Mr. Frank Barr: The mistake is that people think these are city cars.  The people getting 
the best benefit from these cars are those with long commutes.  I am talking about those in the 
commuter belt outside Dublin.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Would the car not have to be charged half way through?

Mr. Frank Barr: I know a couple of examples.  Some people are travelling from Kinnegad, 
so one can get from there to Dublin on one charge.  They would charge it again to get back.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I am talking about people travelling 180 km, 190 km or 
200 km.  There are Deputies who travel 280 km, so they would be standing and waiting while 
charging halfway through.

Mr. Frank Barr: Yes, they would need a fast charger.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: They are not really suitable for that type of driving.  They 
are more suitable for people doing 50 km, 60 km, 80 km or 100 km.

Mr. Frank Barr: Yes.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: Those ranges are current.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I understand that.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: There are new cars on the way and they have extended ranges beyond 
200 km.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: We are where we are now.  Does the witness agree?

Mr. Joe McCarthy: Yes, there are some cars out there that can do 300 miles with a single 
charge.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: For €9, one can get 170 km.

Mr. Frank Barr: I disagree with that figure.  If charging in winter, that charge could take 
an hour, which will cost €18.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: It would be very much in line with the price of diesel.  Is 
that fair enough?

Mr. Frank Barr: Pretty much.  There are many stops on the way and the journey would be 
longer and more tedious, so the incentive is not there any more at that particular price.
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Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I do not know if the witnesses have businesses.  In fairness 
to the ESB, I do not know if the government subsidises this process but the company cannot 
just give electricity to everyone willy-nilly.  The company needs to get reimbursement from 
somewhere, whether that is an EU fund or one from the government.  I understand that the wit-
nesses are trying to get more people to use these vehicles.  It is a good idea for in and around 
cities but, as the previous speaker stated and being honest, the bus lanes throughout the country 
are not sufficiently well designed to cater for taxis and buses, let alone allowing a few cars to 
use them as well.  That would not work.

I agree with some of the other points.  The witnesses mentioned the Wild Atlantic Way and 
there is no problem with having a fast charger on it.  The route is probably 350 km from here.  
I know there are chargers in Castlebar, galway and other towns.  I have even seen them in 
smaller towns like Castlerea.  I agree that councils need to take a full approach.  There was an 
argument that this committee should invoke a statutory instrument on councils; we can make a 
recommendation but we cannot just ring up a council and tell it to do something.  Will the wit-
nesses elaborate on what was done in Cork that can be rolled out in other counties?

Mr. Paddy Carroll: The Deputy stated that the committee should make a recommendation 
to the county councils.  That would be a huge step.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: It would be to a Minister.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: I would not zoom in mostly on bus lanes.  Other ideas include an 
exemption on charges on toll roads and free parking while charging.  The statutory instrument 
does not refer to it as a parking space but rather as a recharging bay.  It is a bay that I would ar-
rive at in order to recharge my car.  We feel that should be free.  The authorities in Limerick city 
have said that parking must be paid for but those in Waterford tell us that an electric vehicle can 
be parked free of charge at any one of the public designated charging bays.  There is no joined-
up thinking and instead there is total inconsistency.  If I am going from one county to the next, 
I might take a chance but I could be ticketed.  Maybe I will not be ticketed.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: In Bray one can get free parking while charging but in Dublin city that 
will not happen.  A person’s car will be clamped if it is parked without paying the fee.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: The authorities in Dublin city are not being that helpful.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: It is about joined-up thinking.  Some of us have been driving electric 
cars since 2010 and are familiar with the network and how to use the cars.  There is a big in-
crease in the number of people using these cars and they have no idea what are the regulations.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: What speeds are they capable of doing?

Mr. Joe McCarthy: They are capable of doing 150 km/h.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Okay.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: We would only do 120 km/h

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: That is good.

Mr. Frank Barr: People are less likely to break the speed limit as the closer a driver keeps 
to 80 km/h, the more range that will be achieved.  If a driver starts pushing it to 120 km/h, he or 
she will probably get no further than 60 km or 70 km on a full charge.  If the speed is dropped 
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to 80 km/h, the driver will get much further.

Chairman: Deputy Fitzmaurice asked how far a car can travel on a single charge and the 
answer indicated that the range is lower in winter.  Is that because of a reduction in temperature?

Mr. Frank Barr: It is partly to do with a reduction in temperatures but also because cold 
air is more dense than hot air and it takes more energy to get through it.  It is mostly because 
batteries perform less efficiently in cold temperatures.

Chairman: Do other elements affect this?  For example, what happens in a storm or against 
wind?

Mr. Frank Barr: It is very much like flying an aeroplane going into a headwind.  It is the 
same with diesel and petrol cars except one might not notice it because there is no concern 
about range.  If driving into a strong headwind, the range is less than if there is no headwind.  
Coming from Cork this morning with a southerly wind, Mr. Séguin got here quite efficiently 
and fast.

Chairman: The wind was behind him.

Mr. Guillaume Séguin: It will take me 30 minutes extra on the way back.  It is a major 
difference.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Does Mr. Séguin have to charge the car a few times on the 
way to Cork?

Mr. Guillaume Séguin: Yes, in Cashel and Portlaoise.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: How long does that take?

Mr. Guillaume Séguin: It is 30 minutes each time.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: One would need to lay out the journey well in advance.

Mr. Guillaume Séguin: It is okay.  It takes a bit longer but that is why these vehicles need 
a competitive edge against diesel.  If it cost the same to go across country, people would not be 
interested.

Mr. Frank Barr: We accept the argument that the ESB is a business and must make money.  
Our concern is the form which the charges take now.  For example, for a fast charge, it is now 
proposing 30 cent per minute, so an hour’s charging - from which somebody will not get much 
range - will not be competitive.  In Dublin, if one is using a slow charger and paying €2.90 per 
hour as well as the electricity charge, why would one drive an electric car?

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Putting on wipers and heaters would cut range as well.

Mr. Frank Barr: Yes.  The heater will reduce range by approximately one third.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: Is the witness serious?

Mr. Frank Barr: Yes.  That is the first model of the car.  The second model uses a heat 
pump, so it is a little more efficient.  The cars are getting better all the time.  The car coming 
next year will have a battery that is 25% bigger so one will be able to go further.  It is improving.  
We are only talking about the short and medium term for incentives to kick-start the process.  
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All the incentives we have mentioned have worked in other countries, and that is why we listed 
them.

Chairman: We are learning much this morning, which is important.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: I would like to mention something about green tourism.  There is a 
great opportunity for Ireland, although it is still in its infancy.  In the association, we have seen 
drivers coming from different countries and asking for information about the infrastructure in 
Ireland.  One of our members has driven from Cork to Holland and back in his electric car.  The 
biggest attraction we have in Ireland is the Wild Atlantic Way.  Some of us would like to do the 
Wild Atlantic Way in electric vehicles but the west coast has the weakest infrastructure.  Hence 
the proposal that some sort of grant be given to hotels, guest houses and points of interest along 
that route.  That is so drivers can have a meal or stay overnight while charging the vehicle be-
fore enjoying that fantastic coast.

Chairman: Is there a cost identified with putting in a charger in a location?

Mr. Joe McCarthy: It varies a little but the ballpark is between €500 and €1,600, depend-
ing on what is available at the location.  It depends on whether it is to be a space or attached to 
a wall.  It also depends on the supply available at the location to feed the charger.

Chairman: It is not excessive in any event.

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: I do not know if this is within our remit.  Mayo County 
Council would be pretty open to putting a fast charger in place or to trying to accommodate one.

Chairman: We will consider it.  It is important that we know the issues to see whether there 
can be a resolution.

Mr. Frank Barr: The fast chargers that the ESB installed, like a rapid charger, tend to be a 
bit more pricey.  Chargers in hotels were mentioned.  Fast chargers cost about €40,000 to put in, 
I think.  We mentioned in our presentation that we got a grant from the trans-European transport 
networks, TEN-T, project of the EU.  That was to put chargers along all the major highways.  
For some reason, the M2 and the M3 were not identified as major highways, however.  Cer-
tainly the N11, M9 and the N7 and N8-----

Deputy  Michael Fitzmaurice: The simple reason is the west and the midlands were taken 
out of TEN-T.  We have from Limerick to Dublin to Newry and from Cork to Dublin to Newry.

Chairman: We will not be traipsing though that debate today but I know what the Deputy 
is talking about.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: I thank Mr. Barr for the presentation.  It is very disappointing to hear 
that there are only 1,100 electric cars in Ireland.  I always believed electric cars would take off.  
I know many have said it was down to the oil companies holding them back.  Whether that is 
true or false is another story.  I am not convinced of it myself.

One of the things that might deter someone from getting an electric car is the time it takes 
to charge.  The position and number of chargers with such a small number of electric cars in 
the country is an issue.  It is not easy to get the chargers throughout the country in the way that 
drivers would require.  It would mean going to the local authorities and making the argument.  It 
probably will be difficult but not impossible.  I know there is one at Glasnevin in a bay.  People 
do not seem to park in it from what I can see.
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I would have thought solar energy would have been used more in the cars themselves or 
even in buses where there would be more scope, or in the transport industry.  I would have 
thought there would have been some kind of self-charging mechanism on the cars without hav-
ing to go to a charger.  Maybe technology has not reached that point.  I am not too sure.

Mr. Frank Barr: The number of solar panels that would be needed to power the car would 
be way more than the surface area of the car could hold.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: That is what I mean.

Mr. Frank Barr: There is a tiny solar panel on the Nissan Leaf which helps recharge the 
12 V battery for the lights, horn and all that type of stuff.  The technology is not available to do 
more yet.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: What might be of more interest are the experiments going on in the UK 
at the moment where they have dedicated charging lanes.  The charging is done by induction as 
the vehicle drives along the lane.  It is in the UK and Holland.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: If it takes half an hour to charge the car, for anyone going on a long 
journey that is nearly an hour gone one way and two hours both ways.  That would be a bit of 
a deterrent.

If a car breaks down and needs a charge, does the driver have a hand unit for doing a quick 
charge?  Is there no such thing?

Mr. Frank Barr: Basically the cars do not break down.  They seem very reliable.  It did 
happen occasionally, when the infrastructure was not as good as it is now, that a driver might 
arrive at a charging station and find it was just not working.  Nissan was providing a free low-
loading service to the next charging bay.  It is like running out of petrol in the middle of no-
where.  There is nothing the driver can do.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: People can get petrol and walk back and put it into the car.  Is there 
a quick method?

Mr. Frank Barr: The only solution, which is not provided in this country, is a thing called 
a granny cable, which is basically a three-pin plug that plugs into the car.  In England they are 
provided as standard with the car but not in Ireland.  We can buy them.  Whoever has one of 
those can ask very nicely at the next house or premises to charge for an hour or two.  That is the 
best anyone can do.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: It is also the case that when one buys an electric car, one’s style of driv-
ing changes.  If I am going from A to B, I have to plan my journey according to where all the 
chargers are.  I have to give myself extra time to stop and charge.  The style of driving people 
are used to with petrol, where they just get in the car and go, changes.  That is the decision 
people make when they buy the cars.  They know that is down the road for them.

I have driven a Nissan Leaf in 2015 and 2014 in all 32 counties in Ireland.  I have done 
that using only the fast chargers.  I was using it as a kind of holiday and doing a photographic 
competition as part of a rally we have for electric cars, to get our owners out and about looking 
at the countryside using their cars.  I got around with no trouble at all.  It was a perfect car to 
drive.  Of course, I am retired and have time.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: That is probably one of the things that would put a lot of people off at 
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this stage.  I know electric cars make sense for the environment and for people’s health.  Do the 
witnesses find it makes a difference to the quality of air and so on inside the car?  Sometimes 
there is a kickback of fumes from the air conditioning in petrol cars.  Is the electric car a much 
healthier environment?

Mr. Paddy Carroll: It is silent.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: It is a different style of driving.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: While we can all come up with 5,000 objections to having an electric 
car, we are here today to try to push it and get it out there.  Let us achieve the government’s 
target of 200,000.  That is not our target or mine; it is the government’s target.  governments 
also have to reach CO2 emissions targets.  We have to get proactive and that is why we would 
say to give incentives.  If incentives have worked in other countries, surely we should give them 
a try.  Let us promote it and get it on the road.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: Are all the main manufacturers now making electric cars or is it just 
a select group?  I have heard different names.  Are they being manufactured across the board?

Mr. Paddy Carroll: They are beginning to develop and manufacture them.  There are very 
few manufacturers selling electric cars in Ireland.  They are looking at Ireland and saying the 
uptake is not big, so why should they bring in their cars?  England has about 25 different electric 
car models for people to choose from.  In Ireland there are maybe four.  The uptake is not there.

Chairman: I gather there is a bigger uptake in 2015.  It has increased relative to other areas, 
although it is starting from a low base.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: Yes.  At the moment we have 457 new electric cars sold in Ireland, 
whereas in 2014 it was 221.

Chairman: It is slow but it is progress.

Mr. Frank Barr: Next year’s cars, certainly the Nissan Leaf, will have an extended range.  
It is becoming much easier.  Every time we stop for a charge we get asked to talk about the car.  
We get the usual questions of how far it can go, how much it costs and how long it takes to 
charge.  There is definitely an interest there, but there is also a huge big fear.  It is like the fear 
the Deputy mentioned a minute ago.  What does one do if one gets stuck down the country?  It 
has happened to me a couple of times but I have been rescued.  The Nissan service rescued me 
a couple of times.  I never ran out of power because there were not enough chargers around the 
place.  It was because the chargers were not working.  There have been other occasions when 
my car has been slowed down because I cannot get a charge due to being blocked from the 
charger.

Deputy  Dessie Ellis: Mr. Carroll mentioned the winter period, where, I gather from what 
he said, the capacity cover in terms of distance is shorter because of the winter environment.  
That is a big issue in terms of selling this concept to people.  Would snow conditions present a 
problem for electric vehicles?

Mr. Frank Barr: I think an electric car would perform better than a petrol car in snowy 
conditions.  One would not have a problem starting the car, which one may have with a petrol 
car.  The issue of the car sliding on the road in such conditions would be pretty much the same 
as for petrol cars.  The range in an electric car would drop in colder conditions but I do not think 
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one would have a problem with the car’s performance in trying to start the car.  Norway has 
proved that.  There are 66,000 electric cars in use there and they do not seem to have a problem 
in those conditions.

Chairman: The main message is that the technology is improving all the time and there will 
be a benefit down the line.  I have two final questions but I note that Deputy Colreavy wants to 
contribute.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: I welcome the representatives of the association and I thank 
them for their presentation.  When I saw this agenda item, not having at that time received a 
copy the presentation, I was intrigued because I do not believe we have ever had representatives 
of a petrol or diesel car owner’s association appear before the committee.  I take it the associa-
tion’s members are electric car enthusiasts.  How many of the 1,100 electric car owners has the 
association as signed-up members?

Mr. Paddy Carroll: We would have about 66.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: I would have thought that most of the car owners would be 
enthusiasts for the concept of electric cars.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: Yes.  We set up the association in March 2015 because we wanted to 
be able to reach people, such as the members of this committee and the stakeholders.  We meet 
with ESB ecars when we request a meeting.  Our association is a small acorn that has been 
planted and, hopefully, our membership will grow and I believe it will.  We have a constitution, 
we hold an annual general meeting and we have a website, irishevowners.ie, and a Facebook 
page.  We hold events for our members.  We went on a tour to Turlough Hill and we visited the 
eco-village in Cloughjordan and we had 15 electric cars down there.  We had a photographic 
rally that ran from March up to the end of October where members submitted photographs they 
had taken of monuments, having travelled to different counties.  Those travelling in 18 electric 
vehicles participated in it.  We have a logo and membership cards.  We are like a car club.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: I love the enthusiasm.  I have no doubt that the association’s 
membership will grow because I imagine most electric vehicle owners would share that enthu-
siasm.  I have two specific questions.  The first one is whether a satnav system or an  iPhone app 
will show the nearest charging points, whether they be fast-charging or slow-charging.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: Yes.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: Battery technology is improving all the time.  A great deal of 
work is being done internationally on improving batteries.  If battery technology takes a step 
change for the better, would the owners have to pay the full cost of the new battery set that 
needs to go into a vehicle?  In other words, if I have a petrol or diesel engine car, the technology 
is changing but they are gradual changes and I will not have to change the car engine.

Mr. Frank Barr: I can only speak for the nice people in Nissan and not for the other manu-
facturers but if a car owner’s battery capacity drops and all battery capacity drops over a period, 
Nissan will replace the battery with a brand new battery for a cost of €6,000 but unfortunately, 
the new battery technology in its car model that will come out next year is not compatible with 
the old one.  Therefore, it will not be possible to do that.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: That is a huge issue.
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Mr. Frank Barr: One could maintain the efficiency and the range of one’s car by changing 
its battery every now and again.  My car has 122,000 km on the clock and I have lost perhaps 
10% capacity, which I do not think is bad for a car with that mileage.  If I were to lose another 
10% capacity, I have the option of paying €6,000 for a new battery and that would be like get-
ting a brand new car.  There is practically no servicing required on an electric car.  I had my 
national car test two weeks ago and the brakes have never been adjusted or changed; they are 
still operating at 96% efficiency because the car has regenerative brakes.  The technology of the 
cars is very good.  The body and motor of the car will probably last, it is only the battery that 
one might need to change.  I could maintain the current range by changing the battery.  I do not 
know if that answers the Deputy’s question.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: It is like normal cars where people have to pay extra to buy more pow-
erful cars but in this case, we are talking about kilowatts instead of horsepower.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: I have a petrol car that has 270,000 km on the clock.  The en-
gine in the newer model has improved but I have not had to replace the engine with the newer 
model engine.  It would not be financially beneficial for me to do so.  Some €6,000 is a good 
deal of money to pay for an engine or a battery.  If battery technology is taking a major leap 
forward, and I anticipate it will, because there is a huge investment in it currently, many electric 
vehicle owners will face that dilemma.

Mr. Guillaume Séguin: There are solutions for that.  In Ireland, we generally have a very 
good climate; it is never too hot or too cold and realistically the battery will last for the life of 
the car.  I would not worry too much about that.  While my colleague said he had lost a small 
amount of capacity, realistically, the battery will last for the life of the car.  For people who are 
anxious about the battery capacity, some manufacturers, such as Nissan in the UK or Renault in 
Ireland, lease batteries and in such cases, the car owner does not own the battery.  One pays €50, 
€60 or €70 per month for the facility and one has a lease on only the battery but one owns the 
car.  It lowers the price of the car when one goes to a dealership and it can provide reassurance 
for a person who has such an anxiety.

Mr. Paddy Carroll: The Deputy asked how a car owner will know where the chargers are.  
There is a built-in satnav in an electric car and it shows all the chargers along the route.  If I ar-
rive in a town and I do not know whether there is a charger in it, I can press a button and it will 
search for chargers near the current location and they will all come up on the system.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: Is that updated automatically?

Mr. Paddy Carroll: That is updated.  ESB ecars send it to Nissan and other car manufac-
turers every so often.  I do not know how often.  I have an app on my phone and on pressing a 
button, it will bring up a map of Ireland with the location of all the chargers.  The ESB is work-
ing behind the scenes such that the technology in the charger is talking to a back office and that 
will happen every 15 minutes.  Therefore, the systems will communicate in terms of whether 
the charger is working and the map will be updated.  ESB is working on that technology to have 
the information available in real time.  Currently, if I arrive at a charger and the charger is not 
working, I ring the ESB ecars telephone number and it starts the ball rolling to get it fixed, but 
it is going to be able to detect that a charger is working.  That would be much better for me in 
that I would know that charger is not working and I would travel to the charger in the next town.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: I thank the representatives.



28

ELECTRIC VEHICLES: DISCUSSION WITH IRISH EV OWNERS ASSOCIATION

Mr. Joe McCarthy: If any members of the committee want to experience a journey in an 
electric car, we would be happy to drive around town with one of the members at some stage.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: Another aspect is that large employers are encouraging their staff to 
take up electric vehicles and they provide charging facilities on their premises.  Those employ-
ers include Microsoft, IBM and Trinity College.  Amazingly, there is no charging facility on the 
grounds of Dáil Éireann.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: Some public service offices have charging points.  Sligo In-
stitute of Technology and the Health Service Executive properties in Manorhamilton provide 
electric charging points for students and employees.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: The HSE in Cork has quite a few of them.

Deputy  Michael Colreavy: On the other hand, as Mr. McCarthy pointed out, Leinster 
House does not have one.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: That is correct.

Chairman: I will ask one final question, because the other issue I had intended to raise - 
namely, the way in which performance could be affected over a number of years - has been ad-
dressed.  In recent days, I heard about the potential of electric motorbikes.  Are electric vehicles 
other than cars available?

Mr. Joe McCarthy: I have an electric motorbike, which I started to drive in 2010.  It is a 
Vectrix maxi scooter, which is currently in the hospital, as it were, being fitted with Nissan cells 
to give it greater range and power.

Chairman: What range do electric motorbikes have?

Mr. Joe McCarthy: It was 85 km and I expect it to increase to the low 100s.

Chairman: Electric motorbikes have many possible uses.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: Yes.  Farms are one example.

Mr. Frank Barr: I understand some public services use an electric version of the Renault 
Kangoo.  Nissan also has an electric van, which is slightly larger than the Kangoo.  The range 
of electric vans is similar to the range of electric cars.

Mr. Joe McCarthy: The city councils maintain very good parks which are patrolled by 
vehicles with diesel engines.  I find that a little strange.  It is not healthy to jog or run behind a 
diesel vehicle in an urban park.  These vehicles should be changed to electric vans.

Chairman: I thank the representatives of the Irish EV Owners Association for appearing 
before the joint committee.  The meeting has been very enlightening for members.  The associa-
tion laid out its wish list, which the joint committee will consider, and we will ascertain whether 
we can play a role in this area.  Given that the proceedings will be published in the Official 
Report, the mere presence of the witnesses will, I hope, lead to a spike in membership of the 
Irish EV Owners Association.  As has been noted, the enthusiasm shown by the witnesses in 
pioneering and promoting electric vehicles is to be welcomed.

The joint committee adjourned at 12.15 p.m. until 12.30 p.m. on Tuesday, 24 November 
2015.
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